LABOR MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

FALL RIVER SCHOOL COMMITTEE

AND

AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY

AND

MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES

AFL — CIO

COUNCIL 93, LOCAL 1118

MAINTENANCE EMPLOYEES

July 1, 2017 through June 30, 2020

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2	DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION	1
ARTICLE 3	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	2
ARTICLE 4	CIVIL SERVICE	4
ARTICLE 5	SENIORITY	5
ARTICLE 6	HOURS OF WORK	5
ARTICLE 7	OVERTIME	5
ARTICLE 8	UNION REPRESENTATIVES	6
ARTICLE 9	HOLIDAYS	7
ARTICLE 10	SICK LEAVE	8
ARTICLE 11	VACATIONS	12
ARTICLE 12	JURY PAY	13
ARTICLE 13	MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, TOOLS AND LICENSE FEES	13
ARTICLE 14	JOB POSTINGS AND BIDDING	14
ARTICLE 15	MISCELLANEOUS	14
ARTICLE 16	PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS	18
APPENDIX A	WAGES	20
APPENDIX B	LONGEVITY	21
APPENDIX C	EVALUATION FORM	22

THIS AGREEMENT ENTERED INTO by the FALL RIVER SCHOOL COMMITTEE, hereinafter referred to as the Employer, and LOCAL 1118, STATE COUNCIL 93, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the Union, has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the Employer and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work and other conditions of employment.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of maintenance employees of the Fall River Public Schools.

The Employer will not aid, promote, or finance any labor group or organization which purports to engage in collective bargaining, or make any Agreement with any such group or individual for the purpose of undermining the Union or changing any condition contained in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 DISCRIMINATION AND COERCION

There shall be no discrimination by the Employer against any Employee because his/her activity or membership in the Union. The Employer further agrees that there will be no discrimination against any member for his/her adherence to any provisions of this Agreement or his/her refusal to comply with any order, which would violate this Agreement.

ARTICLE 3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

Definition:

- A. A grievance is a dispute as to the interpretation or application of this Agreement.
- B. A grievant is an employee who tiles a grievance.
- C. Day means calendar day, Saturdays, Sundays, and State mandated legal holidays excluded as the last day of the time limit.
- D. Representative is a person or agent designated to represent either party in the grievance procedure.
- E. Party in interest is a person, agent, or agency with an interest in the grievance. Class Action grievance is a formal grievance by two or more employees.

Procedures:

- A. Grievance shall be processed promptly and expeditiously
- B. Grievance shall be adjudicated according to the terms of this Agreement, time notwithstanding.
- c. Formal grievance shall be filed in writing.
- D. Communications and decisions concerning formal grievance shall be in writing.
- E. The grievant shall be permitted representatives, limited to two (2) persons, and witnesses at all levels of the formal procedure.
- F. Failure by a grievant to process a grievance within the specified time limits shall render the grievance as settled in favor of the board.
- G. If the Employer fails to issue a decision within the specified time limits, it shall cause the grievance to move to the next level of the grievance process.
- H. Class grievance shall be filed at Level III within ten (10) days of the occurrence.
- I. Grievances shall be filed at the level where the infraction occurred.
- J. All Terminations will immediately be filed with the Superintendent of Schools.

к. A representative of the Union must be present at ALL grievance hearings.

Processing:

A. Level I — Appeal — Formal Grievance

- 1. A grievant shall file a formal grievance within ten (10) days of incident and shall specify the clause of the Agreement, the nature of the grievance, and the remedy with the Department Director for maintenance grievances. A hearing shall be held promptly within five (5) days of receipt of the formal grievance and he/she shall render his/her decision within five (5) days of the hearing.
- B. Level II Appeal to the Superintendent

1. Within ten (10) days of the decision at Level I, the grievant may request an appeal to the Superintendent or his/her designee. The appeal shall include all materials previously submitted.

2. The Superintendent or designee shall establish a hearing within ten (10) days following each request and notify the grievant at least five (5) days prior to the hearing date.

3. Within five (5) days of the said hearing, the Superintendent or designee shall notify the parties in interest of his/her decision.

D. Level III — Appeal to the School Committee

If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of his or her grievance at Level III or if no disposition has been rendered within <u>twenty (20)</u> days after he/she has first met with the Superintendent or his/her designee,-file the grievance in writing, may be filed with the School Committee. The Sub-Committee of the School Committee will meet with the aggrieved person and the Union representative for the purpose of resolving the grievance.

E. Level IV — Arbitration/Division of Labor Relations (DLR)/Labor Relation Connection (LRC)

1. Within thirty (30) days of the decision of the School Committee, the-Union may

request arbitration of the grievance by filing notice with the Superintendent.

2. The parties in interest shall request a list of arbitrators from the American Arbitration Association/Massachusetts Division of Labor Relations (DLR)/Labor Relations Connection (LRC).

3. Within seven (7) days of receipt of such list, an arbitrator shall be selected by alternately striking names from the list, the grievant striking first. If the arbitrator is unable to serve, a new list shall be requested and the process repeated.

4. The arbitrator shall establish rules for the hearing, except as provided herein.

5. The arbitrator shall first rule on the arbitrability of the grievance if so requested by either party.

6. The arbitrator shall have no power to add to, subtract from, or alter the language of the Agreement. He/she shall have no power to make an award inconsistent with law. He/she shall rule only on the interpretation, meaning, or application of the clause or clauses.

7. The arbitrator's decision shall be binding on all parties, except that if his/her decision requires legislative action, such decision shall be effective only if such legislation is enacted.

8. The cost of the services of the arbitrator shall be shared equally by the parties in interest.

F. General Provisions

1. No prejudice will attend any party in interest by reason of the utilization or participation in the grievance procedure.

2. The filing or pendency of any grievance shall not impede the normal management and operation of the schools.

3. All records of grievance processing shall be filed separately.

4. Forms of grievance processing shall be mutually agreed upon by the parties to the Agreement. The Union will distribute the forms as they require these.

5. Parties in interest will cooperate in investigating and providing pertinent information concerning a grievance being processed.

ARTICLE 4 CIVIL SERVICE

The Employer and the Union shall recognize and adhere to all Civil Service and State Labor Laws, Rules and Regulations relative to seniority, promotions, transfers, discharges, removals, and suspensions.

The Union further reserves the right to represent employees under any such established procedure. Any employee not covered by any statute relative to the above matters shall have recourse to the grievance procedure contained herein.

ARTICLE 5 SENIORITY

The principle of seniority shall govern and control all cases of transfer as well as preference of vacation period.

ARTICLE 6 HOURS OF WORK

The regular hours of work each day shall be consecutive, except for interruptions for lunch periods. References to consecutive hours for the balance of this Article shall be constructed to exclude lunch periods.

The workweek shall consist of five (5) consecutive eight (8) hour days, Monday through Friday, inclusive.

Summer hours (July 1 through August 31) for Groundskeepers will be 6:00 AM to 2:30 PM with 30 minutes for lunch.

Working Hours for Maintenance Personnel

7:00 a.m. to 12:00 Noon and 12:30 p.m. to 3:30 p.m. This schedule is for the entire year.

ARTICLE 7 OVERTIME

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid overtime at the rate of one and one-half times his/her regular rate of pay for work in excess of eight (8) hours in one (1) day and forty (40) hours in one (1) week. All work performed on Sunday shall be paid at the rate of two (2) times the regular rate of pay.

Any employee called back to work on the same day, after having completed his/her assigned work and left his/her place of employment and before his/her next regular scheduled starting time, shall be paid at the rate of time-and-one-half for all hours worked on recall. The employee shall be paid for a minimum of two (2) hours; in the event an employee is called back after 12:00 Midnight and before 6:00 am., he/she will receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay.

Overtime shall be equally and impartially distributed among personnel in each area who ordinarily perform such related work in the normal course of their workweek. When in the case of extreme emergencies it is necessary to call in personnel from other areas other than the area which normally performs such related work, they shall be released from their duties first when the workload lessens.

Overtime work shall be voluntary provided the Union guarantees that sufficient personnel shall be available for overtime work. There shall be no discrimination against any employee who declines to work overtime. The Committee reserves the right to schedule emergency overtime work. Emergency work may not be refused by an employee except for just cause.

For Courier Overtime: Current Couriers will have preference for Overtime prior to offering any hours to other employees in the department.

After Couriers, other Maintenance department employees who hold a valid 7D license will have preference prior to offering any hours outside the maintenance employees.

If no couriers or other qualified maintenance department personnel accept the overtime, then it may be offered to any member outside the maintenance department holding a valid 7D license. If there is overtime that is not accepted through the above steps, the department reserves the right to assign overtime in reverse order of seniority.

Notwithstanding the above language, there shall be no requirement to offer overtime should a coach, adviser, or other employee holding a 7D license transport students or staff to any event in a department vehicle.

ARTICLE 8 UNION REPRESENTATIVES

A written list of Union representatives shall be furnished to the School Committee through the Director of Maintenance.

Representatives desiring to attend meetings of State and National bodies without loss of pay will request such leave in accordance with the current policy of the Fall River School Committee.

In accordance with the provisions of Section 12 of Chapter 150E of the General Laws of

Commonwealth of Massachusetts as amended, all employees in the bargaining unit shall, as a condition of employment, pay to the Union, the exclusive bargaining agent and representative, an amount of money equal to that paid by other employees in the bargaining unit who are members of the Union, which shall be limited to an amount of money equal to the Union's regular and usual membership dues. For existing employees, such payment shall commence thirty-one (31) days following the date of their employment.

ARTICLE 9 HOLIDAYS

The following days shall be considered to be paid holidays:

New Year's Day, January 1st Martin Luther King Day President's Day Good Friday Patriots' Day Memorial Day Independence Day Labor Day Columbus Day Veterans' Day Thanksgiving Day *Friday after Thanksgiving *Day before Christmas Christmas Day December 25th *Day after Christmas *Day before New Year's

- *A. These days granted only if there is no session of school.
- *B. Holidays only when it falls on a regular workday, Monday through Friday.

In the event that a holiday falls on a Saturday, all employees scheduled to work from Monday through Friday shall be paid an additional day's salary. All holidays shall be those in which the State decrees that all school building be closed.

Holiday pay shall be eight (8) hours' pay at Straight-time rate.

If a holiday occurs within an employee's vacation period, he/she shall receive an additional day's vacation with pay.

Any employee required to work on a holiday shall receive in addition to the regular holiday pay an amount equal to two (2) times his/her regular rate of pay for all hours of work, but in no case shall this be less than an amount equal to four (4) hours' work at the above rate. If an employee is required to work in excess of eight (8) hours on a holiday, triple time his rate of pay will be paid for all hours over eight (8).

No holiday pay will be granted or paid if an employee does not report for work on the workday immediately preceding the holding and the workday immediately following the holiday, unless the employee is on vacation, sick leave, or any other authorized leave with pay.

ARTICLE 10 SICK LEAVE

A. Effective July 1, 2018, all maintenance employees shall receive 14 sick days per year.

An employee who leaves work during the workday will have that portion of the day during which he/she does not work deducted from his/her sick leave eligibility to the nearest hour.

Sick Leave Bank:

- 1. The Sick Leave Bank is for use by eligible members of the custodial/maintenance staff covered by this Agreement who have exhausted their own accumulated sick leave and who have a serious illness.
- 2. Each unit member shall have their sick leave accumulation reduced by one (1) day each year on September for the term of this Agreement, and those days shall then be deposited in the bank. In the event the Sick Leave Bank is exhausted during the term of this Agreement, all qualified members shall have their sick leave accumulation reduced by another day, and that day shall be deposited in the bank to be used as provided in paragraph (1) above. The parties agree that the number of days contained in the Sick Leave Bank shall be maintained at a minimum level of 400 days. The employees will ensure that there are always a sufficient number of days contained in the Sick Leave Bank.
- 3. The initial grant of sick leave by the Sick Leave Bank Committee to an eligible employee shall not exceed thirty (30) days. Upon completion of the thirty (30) day period, the period of entitlement may be extended by the Sick Leave Bank Committee upon demonstration of need by the applicant. A maximum award of fifty (50) days in any one-year period (September 1s^t through August 30) is in effect.
- 4. The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a Sick Leave Bank Committee consisting of five (5) members; three (3) members shall be designated by AFSCME to serve at its discretion, and two (2) members shall be designated by the School Committee to serve at its discretion. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall determine the eligibility for use of the bank and the amount of sick leave to be granted. The following criteria shall be used by the committee in administering the bank and determining eligibility and amount of leave:
 - a. adequate medical evidence of serious illness, and
 - b. prior utilization of all eligible sick leave.
- 5. All requests by custodial/maintenance personnel seeking an award of sick leave days from the Sick Leave Bank must be in writing and accompanied by a detailed

statement from the treating physician on the nature of the illness and a probable return date. The Sick Leave Bank Committee will then review the request and approve it or deny it based on its merit. The decision of the Sick Leave Bank Committee will be final and binding, not subject to any further appeal by the applicant.

- 6. Days from the Sick Leave Bank are not available for illness or disability due to drug addiction or alcoholism, except during confinement in a hospital, or other institution specializing in such disabilities.
- 7. The custodian or maintenance personnel are required to reimburse to the Sick Leave Bank fifty (50) percent of the allotted days. The amount and the period for reimbursement may be adjusted by the Sick Leave Bank Committee; in no event shall the reimbursement period exceed two (2) school years.
- 8. Any days unexpended from the Sick Leave Bank will be carried over to the following year.
- B. In the event of a death in the immediate family, employees shall be entitled to a leave of absence for five (5) days without loss of salary or loss of credit from annual or cumulative leave. The term immediate family shall include father, mother, brother, sister, husband, wife, child, grandchildren, grandparents, or immediate in-laws, or a member of the immediate household.
- C. Employees will be entitled to three (3) days leave of absence for personal, legal, business, household, or family matters which require absence during working hours. Application for personal leave will be made at least twenty-four (24) hours before taking such leave, except in the case of emergencies, and the applicant for such leave will not be required to state the reason for taking such leave other than that he/she is taking it under this section. Such absence shall not be deducted from the number of days to the credit of the employees. Personal days will be accumulative at the rate of one (1) day per year.
- D. The Superintendent may, when emergencies arise such as attendance at court in which the employee is not a principal party or the reception of a degree, excuse the absence without loss of pay for a period not exceeding one day in each year, but such absence shall be deducted from the number of days to the credit of the employee. The Superintendent may excuse any employee who requests absence for Jewish holidays without loss of pay, but such absence shall be deducted from the number of days to the credit of the employee.
- E. The Superintendent shall have the power to excuse and employee for one (1) day's absence to attend the funeral of a relative, not herein covered, without loss of pay but such absence shall be deducted from the number of days to the credit of the employee.
- F. Employees who serve or are serving in the Armed Forced of the United States shall be entitled to all sick leave benefits after having resumed their duties as employees of the City of Fall River, and such periods of service in the Armed Forces shall not be deducted from their experience categories.

- G. Absence due to quarantine periods within the household of an employee shall be paid for in full for a period not to exceed five (5) school days and shall not apply against the credit of sick leave provided the employee takes up temporary residence in a place where there are no children attending school; and provided he or she immediately notifies the Superintendent of Schools and the Board of Health of said change of residence; and that he or she remains under the observation of the Board of Health during the period of quarantine and is given at the end of the period a certificate by the Board of Health authorities permitting him or her to return to duty.
- H. The sick leave plan shall be considered as having been activated as of September 1, 1948, with employees who fall into the above-listed experience categories with respect to years of service in the Fall River Public Schools being henceforth entitled to the annual number of days specified.
- I. On the effective date of the adoption of the amended plan (September 1, 1965), no employee shall lose credit for previously accumulated sick leave allowance.
- J. 1. The Committee and Association agree that the Fall River School Department is committed to optimizing staff and student attendance and eliminating the inappropriate use of sick leave. Each employee has a responsibility for limiting her or his use of personal sick leave to legitimate purposes as identified in this contract. It is also agreed that Fall River School Department Administrators have a right and responsibility to monitor sick leave and verify that sick leave is restricted to legitimate use. Fall River School Department Administrators shall take fair and appropriate corrective action whenever there is a misuse of sick leave.

2. An employee absent for any period exceeding five (5) consecutive days because of personal illness shall file with the Superintendent of Schools a statement from a competent physician certifying his or her good health and physical ability to resume his or her duties.

3. The Superintendent or Superintendent's designee may require an employee who is on sick leave for five (5) or more consecutive days to provide a written statement from a qualified physician that documents that the employee was not able to work.

4. The Superintendent or Superintendent's designee may require an employee who has been absent for 12 or more days in a given work year or who has a pattern of sick leave that raises concern about possible misuse of sick leave, to provide a written statement from a qualified physician that documents that the employee was not able to work. This requirement is applicable to each sick leave occurrence which may involve one day or two or more consecutive days.

5. An employee, who leaves work because of illness before half of her/his regularly scheduled work hours for that day are completed, will have a full sick day deducted from her/his sick leave accrual. An employee, who leaves work because of illness, after completing four or more hours work, will have a half sick day deducted from her/his sick leave accrual.

6. The above language is not intended to be in conflict with the Family Medical Leave Act.

- K. The School Committee reserves the right to have an independent physician examine any employee, at City expense, claiming sick leave who, in its opinion, may not be entitled to the same and/or who may be incapacitated to perform some official duties. The opinion of the independent physician shall be final.
- L. Whenever an employee is absent from school as a result of personal injury to him/her caused by an accident or assault upon him/her occurring in the course of his/her employment during any period for which weekly total incapacity compensation is payable under Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 152, Section 69 as amended, the employee in addition to such total incapacity compensation, shall be paid out of his/her sick leave allowance which, when added to such compensation, will result in the payment to him/her of his/her full salary until any sick leave allowance which the employee has to his/her credit has been used. Sick leave time deducted for said payment will be prorated in accordance with the ratio that the School Department bears to the employee's total weekly salary during this period. The mechanics of payment to the employee will be to compensate directly from sick leave, as available, and to apply the Workmen's Compensation award toward refunding of the employee's sick leave account.

The School Committee agrees to a re-opener clause on the language of Paragraph L above if the law changes during this contract period.

M. Sick Leave Severance Benefit Payment.

There shall be a severance benefit pertaining to sick leave upon either retirement, termination for other than cause, or death while in the employ of the City payable in accordance with the following schedule: As of July 1, 2005, the lesser of fifty-five (55) days or the actual number of sick leave accumulated shall be paid upon separation from employment. In the event of death while in the employ of the City, the above allowance shall be converted into the form of a cash payment to the estate of the employee.

N. Protection of all Buildings Department Personnel

All Buildings Division personnel will immediately report, in writing, all cases of assault suffered by them in accordance with their employment to the Principal and the Director of Maintenance Services.

This report will be forwarded to the Committee which will comply with any reasonable request from the building personnel for information in its possession relating to the incident or the persons involved and will act in appropriate ways as liaison between the building personnel, the police, and the courts.

In criminal or civil proceedings brought against building personnel alleging that he/she committed an assault in connection with his/her employment, the committee will, upon request of the Buildings Personnel, furnish legal counsel to defend him/her in such proceedings.

Attendance to members of the family within the household of the employee, who illness requires the care of such employee, provided that not more than seven (7) working days with pay shall be granted to such employees for this purpose in any one (1) calendar year.

- O. If any program is instituted to give any other recognized bargaining unit free inoculations, the program will be made available to maintenance personnel.
- P. Attendance bonus each year of the contract, effective July 1of each year of the contract, retroactive. Attendance bonus: If the employee utilizes the following days, he/she will be entitled to the below amount:

\$350.00 per year for 0 sick days utilized.\$250.00 per year for 1 sick day utilized.\$125.00 per year for 2 or 3 sick days utilized

ARTICLE 11 VACATIONS

The vacation year shall be the period 1 January to 31 December inclusive. Each employee shall be credited as of 1 January with vacation leave with pay as follows:

- A. One (1) day paid vacation for each month worked in the previous calendar year up to a maximum of ten (10) days.
- B. Two (2) weeks paid vacation after completing one (1) full year of employment with the City of Fall River.
- C. Three (3) weeks paid vacation after completing four (4) years of employment with the City of Fall River.
- D. Four (4) weeks paid vacation after completing ten (10) years of employment with the City of Fall River.
- E. Five (5) weeks paid vacation after completing fifteen (15) years of employment with the City of Fall River.
- F. After an employee has served twenty (20) years, he/she shall be allowed an additional one (1) day of paid vacation for each year served after twenty (20) years to a maximum of six (6) weeks paid vacation.

When an employee reaches the anniversary date, which will earn an increase in vacation (i.e., one, four, ten, fifteen, twenty, etc.), that additional vacation will be available to the employee between the anniversary date and the end of the current vacation year.

If because of illness the employee cannot take the vacation time as scheduled between 1 January and 31 December of any given year, the employee's vacation time shall be accumulated and taken in the following year together with the vacation scheduled for that employee in said following year.

Vacation days awarded on a first-come, first-serve basis with the understanding that employees shall be permitted to carryover all refused days. All vacation days must be selected by October 31 of the year in which they are taken.

Employees who accrue vacation in excess of five weeks per year shall be entitled to use this time in increments of one day. The day has to be requested in advance and shall be approved based on staffing requirements and the number of employees on vacation.

Vacation and Personal Days:

Normally, maintenance staff is expected to take full vacation weeks. Half vacation days and personal days (4 hour increments) will only be available for single vacation days which may exist as left over vacation days from vacation weeks which might have included a holiday.

It is agreed that up to 75% of each trade group among maintenance personnel shall be permitted to utilize vacation time in any given week. In those situations where there are only two employees in a particular trade, such as the electricians, only one employee shall be permitted to take vacation in the same week. Eligibility for vacation time shall be governed by the collective bargaining agreement.

ARTICLE 12 JURY PAY

The Employer agrees to make up the difference in an employee's wages between a normal week's wages and compensation received for jury duty.

ARTICLE 13 MATERIALS, EQUIPMENT, TOOLS, LICENSE FEES

The Employer agrees to provide all materials, equipment, foul weather gear, tools, and license fees required to perform the duties assigned to the employees covered by this Agreement. Foul weather gear will remain in the school building.

Spare men are not to be asked to use their own cars between jobs or carry tools in them.

Effective July 1, 2018, employees in the bargaining unit will receive a clothing allowance of \$700.00 annually, in a separate check that will be issued by the second pay period of the fiscal year. Bargaining Unit members will be responsible for purchasing the required OSHA approved footwear immediately.

The Employer will issue a separate check, after ratification of this agreement, for the difference of the agreed upon increased clothing allowance. (\$700 - \$525=\$175)

Employees will wear a Navy, Black, or Grey T-shirt or polo style shirt bearing an FRPS logo to be supplied by the department. Employees may wear the same colors of a hooded sweatshirt or jacket. Employees may also wear appropriate spirit wear clothing from Fall River Public Schools.

Employees may receive reimbursement for courses or professional development related to their positions and approved by management.

ARTICLE 14 JOB POSTING AND BIDDING

Announcements of vacancies will be made in accordance with Civil Service procedures, and such vacancies are to be posted seventy-two (72) hours after they become known on a bulletin board in a conspicuous place in the building occupied by the Director of Maintenance. The notice of vacancy shall remain posted for fifteen (15) days, and position shall be filled at the next regular School Committee meeting. Employees interested will make their interest known in writing to the Director of Maintenance.

All positions are to be posted after thirty (30) days of work.

All promotional vacancies will be filled based upon the match between the candidate's qualifications and past work performance with the position's requirements. When these factors are equal, seniority will prevail. In the case of two equally qualified applicants, the applicant from within the maintenance unit shall have preference. All facility assignments are subject to the approval and provisions of the Educational Reform Act. This section does not apply to lateral transfers.

All employees temporarily filling a position with a higher rate of pay shall receive the higher rate after five (5) days of work in that position.

All positions will be posted in accordance with the above at the Office of the Director of Maintenance and on the Superintendent's Bulletin. Anything germane to maintenance personnel will be given by the Principal to the head custodian in the respective buildings for posting in an appropriate place.

Once an employee successfully bids on a school or position, said employee shall be locked into that school or position and cannot bid out for one (1) year from the date of his/her appointment by the Superintendent.

ARTICLE 15 MISCELLANEOUS

- 1. Shop Stewards shall work out of the Shop so as to be available to workers and Management at all times if requested by the Steward Elect and if deemed practical and feasible by the School Committee or its designee.
- 2. Bulletin Board A bulletin board for the publishing of notices of a routine nature will be maintained in a conspicuous place in the building occupied by the Director of Maintenance Director.
- 3. All reasonable benefits, privileges, or working conditions existing prior to this Agreement, which affect employees of the bargaining unit as a whole and not in

conflict with this Agreement, shall remain in full force and effect during the term of this Agreement. In the event that a question should arise as to whether a condition of employment is a reasonable past practice and should continue in effect as a practice, the parties to this Agreement shall meet and attempt to resolve the issue. In the event that the parties cannot agree, the matter shall be submitted to arbitration under the provisions and procedures of this Agreement. A past practice, as set forth above, is not to be constructed as setting general practice when it relates solely to an individual.

- 4. No Discrimination The parties to this Agreement agree that they shall not discriminate against any person because of race, creed, color, gender, sexual orientation or age, and that such persons shall receive the full protection of this Agreement.
- 5. Access to Premises The Employer agrees to permit representatives of the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO and/or Council 93, and/or Local 1118 to enter the premises at any time for individual discussion of working conditions with employees provided care is exercised by such representatives that they do not interfere with the performance of duties assigned to the employees or with the proper educational operation of the schools. Prior to the Staff Representative exercising this provision he/she shall give advance notice of one business day to the Director of Maintenance unless there are extenuating circumstances which make this notice impossible.
- 6. Consultation Procedure The School Committee agrees that once during the months of October, December, February and April, prior to the fifteenth of each said month, it will meet with representatives of the Union in special session for the purpose of discussing such matters as the Union determines upon written request from the Union. The union agrees that one or before the first of each of the above enumerated months, it will provide the School Committee with a written list of the topics it wishes to discuss with the School Committee. There will be not more than five (5) members appointed by the Union per meeting. These meetings may be called by the Union or School Committee. The moving party to submit an agenda in accordance with the language stated above.
- 7. Full Bargaining Provision The parties agree that they have fully bargained and agreed upon all terms and conditions of employment, and that this Agreement represents and incorporates the complete and final understanding and settlement by the parties of all bargaining issues which were or could have been the subject of negotiations.
- 8. Separability and Savings If any provisions of this Agreement should be held invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction including but not limited to the Division of Civil Service, or if compliance with or enforcement of any provision should be retained by such tribunal pending a final determination as to its validity, such provisions shall be inoperative but all other provisions shall be not affected thereby and shall continue in full force and effect.
- 9. Work Continuity The Union agrees that for the life of this contract there shall be no strike, slowdown, sickout or other similar concerted action.

- 10. Management's Rights Except as specifically provided otherwise in this Agreement, the employer shall not be deemed to be limited in any way by this Agreement in the performance of the regular and customary functions of management as provided for under applicable statutes and reserves and retains all powers, authority, and prerogatives including, without limitation, the exclusive right to issue reasonable rules and regulations governing the conduct of his/her department provided that rules and such regulations are not inconsistent with the expressed provisions of this Agreement.
- 11. Telephone Stipend Effective July 1, 2018 (\$25.00/month) for employees who are required to be available via a cell phone that are using a non-department phone. (Includes Carpenters, Electricians, Groundskeepers, Painters, Plumbers, Steamfitters) If the employee fails to respond to a call or message from the department within 30 minutes, they will receive written warning. If the failure to respond persists, the stipend will be permanently withdrawn from that employee.
- 12. The Skilled Tradesman I— shall be present whenever stock, materials, or equipment is removed from the stockroom provided he/she is available.
- 13. Effective January 1, 2018, the vehicle allowance shall be \$350.00per month for a total of \$4,200.00 per year.

The categories covered are: Painters, Carpenters, Mason Plasterer, Electricians, Plumbers, HVAC, Steam Fitter, Cement Finisher/Grounds Keeper, as well as the Working Foreman of any of the categories previously mentioned. The Department reserves the right to assign a vehicle rather than the allowance. In the case where there is more than one employee in the department area where the vehicle is assigned, the vehicle will be assigned in reverse order of seniority.

- 14. Annually, a total of eight (8) days will be available so that members of the maintenance or custodial staff might be allowed to attend bona fide seminars connected with custodial and/or maintenance duties. The School Committee, upon the recommendation of the Director of Maintenance and the Superintendent or designee, will determine the number and the individuals who would be allowed to attend. This decision will be based upon the manpower needs of the School Department at the time the seminars are to take place. This clause limits itself to seminars that are conducted during approved times.
- 15. At the beginning of each school year each employee, under this Agreement, shall receive a written statement indicating the amount of sick leave accumulated to that employee.
- 16. The Fall River School Committee retains the right to employ independent contractors. No employee within the bargaining unit shall be laid off as a result of the exercise of such right.
- 17. In the event the School Committee entertains an early retirement incentive program, the parties to this Agreement agree to meet and discuss same.
- 18. All unit employees shall use direct deposit.
- 19. Blue Cross Blue Shield co-payments for prescription medication will increase so that

the current \$3 payments will become \$5 payments and current \$4 payments will become \$10 payments. This change will not take effect until an agreement has been reached with all city and school department bargaining units, however, not earlier than March 1, 2005. These co-payments do not apply to prescriptions provided through Fall River Meds, the city employees' optional mail order program which does not require any co-payments.

- 20. Office visit co-payments for all health insurance plans will increase from Five Dollars (\$5.00) per visit to Ten Dollars (\$10.00) per visit. This change will not take effect until an agreement has been reached with all city and school department bargaining units.
- 21. This Agreement shall become effective July 1, 2014 and shall continue in effect to and including midnight June 30, 2017.
- 22. Employees agree to a drug testing program (to be developed). The drug testing program would involve reaching a "reasonable suspicion- requirement by a trained individual, No random testing. Employees testing positive for the first time would then be directed to Employee Assistance Program.
- 23. Effective July 1, 2018, the position of Store Keeper shall be reassigned to "Skilled Tradesman I"
- 24. Effective July 1, 2018, the position of Groundskeeper Foreman shall be reassigned to "Skilled Tradesman II"

Negotiations on proposed changes or amendments to the terms of this Agreement shall begin no later than October 1, <u>in the final year of the Agreement</u> and shall continue until an Agreement is reached or until this Agreement has been terminated.

ARTICLE 16 PERFORMANCE EVALUATIONS

Section 1

Performance evaluations are designed to serve the needs of both the employee and Employer. An organized program for employee performance evaluation will:

<u>A.</u> Improve employee satisfaction and potentially reduce employee absenteeism, turnover, and grievances

<u>B.</u> Serve as an important motivational tool and improve the quality of job performance.

<u>C.</u> Enhance the ability to achieve School Department goals through improved supervisoremployee communications.

- D. Base personnel actions on objective, accurate and fair performance appraisals.
- <u>E.</u> Monitor the performance of probationary employees on a timely basis.

Performance evaluation is the review and rating of all factors relevant to an employee's effectiveness on the job. It involves observation, guidance, training and open communication between the employee and supervisor. For it to be of significant benefit to both the individual employee and the Employer, it should be a continuous process.

Performance evaluations should be seen primarily as a developmental tool. Its purpose is to assess an employee's job-related strengths and weaknesses and develop his/her competence to the fullest. In a correctly executed evaluation, the supervisor and the employee work together to find the means by which the employee's ability can be strengthened and directed.

Section 2

Performance evaluations for probationary employees shall be made at the completion of the first three (3) months of probationary service and again prior to the completion of their six (6) months of probationary service.

Performance evaluations for non-probationary employees shall be made once per year for the first three (3) years of service in a respective position and then once every two (2) years thereafter. Evaluations shall be completed by May 1' of each evaluation period.

Such evaluation shall be recorded in writing on the form in appendix C and shall be based on the following criteria:

- A. Quality and quantity of work;
- B. Work habits;
- C. Work attitudes;
- D. Working relationships with others; and,
- E. Supervisory ability (if employee supervises others).

Section 3

Each employee shall receive a written copy of his/her evaluation and shall be entitled to fully participate in the evaluation exercise' with his/her immediate supervisor and, if requested, discuss the evaluation with the reviewing supervisor.

Maintenance employees will be evaluated by their respective supervisor. The Director of Administrative and Environmental Services or the Director of Engineering and Maintenance Services will review evaluations.

Section 4

The Human Resources Department, shall receive and validate all evaluations and shall retain such evaluations, and evidence or materials submitted in support of such evaluation, in the respective official personnel file of each employee.

Section 5

Any evaluation so retained in respect of any employee may be reviewed by such employee in the Human Resources Department at any reasonable time upon prior written notice, or whenever otherwise mutually agreed upon by the Human Resource department and the employee. An employee shall have the right to file a written statement in response to any such evaluation.

Section 6

An employee may not grieve the substance of his/her evaluation, except where such evaluation results in a negative action.

Employees may grieve the evaluation procedure if the process is not as set out in the preceding sections of this Article.

<u>APPENDIX A</u> MAINTENANCE SALARY SCHEDULE

Maintenance Pay Scales

Job Title		July 1, 2017	June 30, 2018	July 1, 2018	July 1, 2019
Skilled Worker I	Hourly	\$23.85	\$23.97	\$24.21	\$24.69
Storekeeper, Groundskeeper	Weekly	\$889.96	\$889.96	\$925.89	\$987.72
Cement Finisher, MEO, HEO	Bi-Weekly	\$1,779.91	\$1,779.91	\$1,851.78	\$1,975.45
Skilled Tradesman I	Hourly	\$24.39	\$24.51	\$24.76	\$25.25
Painter, Carpenter	Weekly	\$910.16	\$910.16	\$946.90	\$1,010.09
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,566.19	\$1,566.19	\$1,629.43	\$2,020.18
Licensed Tradesman I	Hourly	\$25.54	\$25.67	\$25.92	\$26.44
Plumber, Steamfitters	Weekly	\$953.20	\$953.20	\$991.69	\$1,016.48
Electricians, HVAC, Mason/Plasterer	Bi-Weekly	\$1,906.40	\$1,906.40	\$1,983.38	\$2 <i>,</i> 032.96
Skilled Worker II	Hourly	\$25.21	\$25.34	\$25.59	\$26.10
	Weekly	\$978.95	\$978.95	\$1,018.47	\$1,044.05
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,957.90	\$1,957.90	\$2,036.94	\$2 <i>,</i> 088.10
Skilled Tradesman II - Foreman	Hourly	\$26.77	\$26.90	\$27.17	\$27.72
Painter Foreman, Carpenter Foreman	Weekly	\$999.15	\$999.15	\$1,039.49	\$1,108.65
Groundskeeper Foreman	Bi-Weekly	\$1,998.30	\$1,998.30	\$2,078.98	\$2,217.31
Licensed Trades II	Hourly	\$28.10	\$28.24	\$28.52	\$29.09
Plumber, Steamfitter, Electrician	Weekly	\$1,048.51	\$1,048.51	\$1 <i>,</i> 090.84	\$1,163.73
HVAC	Bi-Weekly	\$2,097.02	\$2,097.02	\$2,181.68	\$2,327.47
Tradesman	Hourly	\$16.73	\$16.81	\$16.98	\$17.32
	Weekly	\$624.42	\$624.42	\$649.63	\$692.86
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,248.84	\$1,248.84	\$1,299.26	\$1,385.71
Assistant Storekeeper	Hourly	18.38	\$18.47	\$18.66	\$19.03
	Weekly	\$735.20	\$686.02	\$713.72	\$761.19
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,470.40	\$1,372.05	\$1,427.45	\$1,522.38
Courier / Driver	Hourly	\$20.98	\$21.08	\$21.30	\$21.72
	Weekly	\$783.10	\$783.10	\$814.72	\$868.87
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,566.19	\$1,566.19	\$1,629.43	\$1,737.73
Storeroom Helper	Hourly	\$20.79	\$20.89	\$21.10	\$21.52
	Weekly	\$776.04	\$776.04	\$807.37	\$861.00
	Bi-Weekly	\$1,552.07	\$1,552.07	\$1,614.74	\$1,722.00

<u>Appendix B</u> LONGEVITY PAYMENT SCHEDULE

Longevity	Effective July 1, 2000
After five (5) vears	\$11.25
After ten (10) vears	13.95
After twentv (20) vears	17.80
After thirty (30) years	21.65

*Longevity to be computed from the Anniversary Date and paid on a weekly basis.

APPENDIX C

page 1 of 4

Fall River Public Schools — Performance Evaluation

Employee Name:	_ Position/Title:
School/Assignment:	Evaluation Period:

Rating Definitions:

5. Superior: Accomplished all goals or performed all tasks and excels in a substantial manner. 4. Above Standard: Performs all tasks above departmental standards.

- 3. Good: Meets departmental standards.
- 2. Fair: Does not meet some standards, improving and potentially acceptable (supervisor must provide specific examples).
- 1. Unsatisfactory: Many goals unrealized or many tasks not complete (supervisor must provide specific examples).
- 0. Not Applicable: Not relevant to job.

Circle the appropriate rating and provide specific examples in comment space Part A-1 — Quality and Quantity of Work:

5	4	3	2	1	0
5	4	3	2	1	0
5	4	3	2	1	0
5	4	3	2	1	0
5	4	3	2	1	0
5	4	3	2	1	0
	5 5 5 5	5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4	5 4 3 5 4 3 5 4 3 5 4 3 5 4 3	5 4 3 2 5 4 3 2 5 4 3 2 5 4 3 2 5 4 3 2	5 4 3 2 1 5 4 5 4 5 5 6 5 6 5 6 5 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6

Supervisor's Comments:

Employee's Comments:

Part A-2 — Work Habits:

a	5 4	43	2 1	0
b	5 4	43	2 1	0
С	5 4	4 3	2 1	0
d	5 4	43	2 1	0
e	5 4	43	2 1	0
Supervisor's Comments:				

Employee's Comments:

Part A-3 — Work Attitudes

a		43	2	1 ()
			_		_
					_
e		4 3	2	1 ()
1, Adapts to emergene	cy situations $\overline{5}$	4 3	2	1 ()
Supervisors Comments:					

Employee's Comments:

Part A4 _Relationships with Others

	Works well with co-workers Works well with the public	$\frac{5}{5} \frac{4}{4} \frac{3}{3} \frac{2}{2} \frac{1}{1} \frac{0}{0}$
c.	Cooperates well with supervisors and other staff	$\overline{\underline{5}} \ \overline{\underline{4}} \ \overline{\underline{3}} \ \overline{\underline{2}} \ \overline{\underline{1}} \ \overline{\underline{0}}$
d.	Observes established channels of communication	<u>5 4 3 2 1 0</u>

Supervisor's Comments:

Employee's	Comments:
------------	-----------

Part A5 _Supervisory Ability (where applicable)							
	Demonstrates leadership ability	$5 \frac{4}{4} \frac{3}{2} \frac{2}{2} \frac{1}{1} 0$					
	Makes informed and timely decisions	$5 \underline{4} \underline{3} \underline{2} \underline{1} \underline{0}$					
	Is fair and impartial with subordinates	5 <u>4</u> <u>3</u> <u>2</u> <u>1</u> <u>0</u>					
d.	Provides training and instruction to subordinates	5 <u>4</u> <u>3</u> <u>2</u> <u>1</u> <u>0</u>					
e.	Maintains acceptable performance standards	$5 \underline{4} \underline{3} \underline{2} \underline{1} \underline{0}$					
Supervisor	's Comments:						

Employee's Comments:

Fall River Public Schools — Performance Evaluation Part B — Comments of Supervisor who performed this evaluation:

Supervisor's Signature and Title	Date
2 ⁴ Supervisor's Signature and Title	Date

Comments of Employee:

Employee's Signature (Does not imply agreement or disagreement)

Date of Discussion with Supervisor

Fall River Public Schools — Performance Evaluation

Part C — Comments of 1^{st} or 2," reviewer of this evaluation:

Signature and Title of Reviewer

Comments of Employee:

Employee's signature (Does not imply agreement or disagreement)

Date reviewed by employee

Date